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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF UTAH, CENTRAL DIVISION 

  

 

JUDITH PINBOROUGH 

ZIMMERMAN, Ph. D., 
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vs. 
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WILLIAM MCMAHON, Ph. D., in his 

official and individual capacities, 

   

 Defendants. 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

(Jury Demand) 

 

Case No. 2:13-cv-01131-PMW 

Magistrate Judge Dustin B. Pead 

Judge Clark Waddoups 

 

Plaintiff Judith Zimmerman (“Dr. Zimmerman”), by and through her undersigned 

counsel, submits this First Amended Complaint and Jury Demand against Defendants The 

University of Utah and Dr. William McMahon, in his official and individual capacities.  

Dr. Zimmerman complains and alleges as follows:  

NATURE OF CASE 

This is an action against the University and Dr. William McMahon (“McMahon”) 

seeking redress for wrongful termination that unlawfully violates the federal constitution.  

Dr. Zimmerman’s causes of action include violation of the Utah Protection of Public 

Case 2:13-cv-01131-JNP-BCW   Document 32   Filed 01/22/15   Page 1 of 32



 2 

Employees Act, Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-1, et seq. (known as the Whistleblower’s Act), 

breach of contract and due process claims, and claims for deprivation of liberty and 

deprivation of her right to free speech under both 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Utah 

Constitution. Dr. Zimmerman also alleges violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e; the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, 29 

U.S.C. § 621 et seq., as amended (“ADEA”); the Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12112, et seq. as amended (“ADA”); and a common law wrongful 

termination in violation of public policy claim. 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff is an individual residing in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. 

2. Defendant University is an institution of higher education formed and existing 

under Utah Code Ann. § 53B-2-101. 

3. Defendant McMahon is an individual employed by the University of Utah as the 

Chair of the Department of Psychiatry.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

4. This Court has jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this action 

pursuant to, inter alia, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1367. 

5. Venue in this action is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 

6. On October 25, 2013, Dr. Zimmerman gave notice of her claims that are subject 

to the Utah Government Immunity Act to the University, pursuant to the Utah 

Code Ann. § 63-30d-401, by hand delivery and mailing a copy of the notice via 

certified mail to both the Office of the Utah Attorney General and the University 

of Utah’s Risk and Insurance management Office, and University of Utah Office 
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of General Counsel. There has been no response to that notice although sixty days 

have passed. 

7. Dr. Zimmerman filed a Charge of Discrimination with the E.E.O.C. on June 6, 

2013, alleging discrimination based on age, sex, religion, disability, and 

retaliation. See Charge of Discrimination, attached as Ex. A. Dr. Zimmerman 

received a Notice of Right to Sue on November 24, 2014. See Notice of Right to 

Sue, attached as Ex. B. 

GENERAL FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

8. Dr. Zimmerman is a licensed certified speech-language pathologist and was an 

assistant research professor in the Department of Psychiatry at the University of 

Utah. During her previous employment with the Utah Department of Health 

(“UDOH”) from 1978-2005, she created the Utah Registry of Autism and 

Developmental Disabilities (“URADD”) in 2002.  The URADD was originally 

funded by a grant for which Dr. Zimmerman was the primary author, lead 

principle investigator (“PI”), and received funding and signed a cooperative 

agreement from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (the “CDC”). 

9. In December of 2005, Dr. Zimmerman accepted a faculty position with the 

University offered by Dr. McMahon.  During the tenure of Dr. Zimmerman’s 

employment at the University, she was subjected to long standing discrimination 

by McMahon and the Department based on her age, perceived disability, and 

religion.  When she attempted to voluntarily move to another Department away 

from McMahon, she was subjected to further retaliation and discrimination for her 

efforts. 
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a. McMahon regarded Dr. Zimmerman as having one or more mental disorders, such 

as emotional or mental illness(es). McMahon told Dr. Zimmerman he thought she 

had post-traumatic stress disorder (“PTSD”) as a result of working at the DOH 

and after he told her about his own daughter’s personal traumatic event. 

b. McMahon also told Dr. Zimmerman that Dr. Bilder regarded Dr. Zimmerman as 

having a mental disorder. Bilder offered “counseling” to one of Dr. Zimmerman’s 

employees to “protect” this employee from Dr. Zimmerman. 

c. Dr. Zimmerman was offered part-time employment while younger, similarly-

situated employees were offered full-time employment. 

d. Dr. Zimmerman was often asked when she was going to retire because older 

employees could not keep up with younger employees. 

e. Dr. Zimmerman also faced derogatory and negative comments regarding her 

personal pursuit to become a chaplain. She was often told that she should be 

doing something else with her time. Dr. Zimmerman’s Performance, Retention, 

and Tenure Review notes that Dr. Zimmerman pursued becoming a chaplain, on 

her own time, instead of a research epidemiologist. 

10. In 2011, Dr. Zimmerman notified the University and UDOH that she did not have 

an Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) authorization in place for Dr. Bilder, 

another faculty member, to do research analysis. Bilder became extremely upset 

when Dr. Zimmerman informed her that an IRB would likely be needed from the 

University and UDOH prior to Dr. Zimmerman being able to assist her with a 

URADD data request and analysis. In fact, Bilder laughed and told Dr. 

Zimmerman that “Bakian [another University employee] had already given her 
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the data.” Bilder also stated that she did not need an IRB since it was a 

“preliminary study.”  Dr. Zimmerman indicated to Bilder that she would double 

check with the health department and University of Utah IRB just to make sure, 

and, indeed, Dr. Zimmerman’s understanding was correct. 

11. The Utah State Office of Education (“USOE”) had already rescinded UDOH’s 

further access to education data due to FERPA concerns, but Dr. Zimmerman was 

able to re-negotiate access through grants awards and they trusted that she would 

keep her commitment for non-disclosure of identifiable education data to other 

researchers. 

12. Dr. Zimmerman underwent a lengthy review, promotion, and tenure process 

(“RPT”) including the letters of support in May 2012, contained in Dr. 

Zimmerman’s personnel file from Drs. Sperry and Li.  Dr. Zimmerman passed the 

RPT process. Dr. Zimmerman’s annual work-related performance reviews were 

always positive and often outstanding prior to her working under McMahon’s 

supervision.  Alleged performance concerns only arose, as admitted by McMahon, 

immediately following Dr. Zimmerman’s report of serious ethical concerns, 

potential research misconduct, and discrimination to the University’s 

administration. 

13. Dr. Zimmerman’s reputation with the CDC was outstanding.  She received 

excellent letters of support from researchers and colleagues outside the 

Department during RPT process, which ironically, included endorsement by 

McMahon. 
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14. It was Dr. Zimmerman’s understanding that as the PI, she had the academic 

freedom and authority to choose with whom she worked on her grants, and with 

whom she collaborated on projects.  Dr. Zimmerman chose someone other than 

McMahon after years of dealing with his negativity, discrimination, and lack of 

assistance. McMahon never supported Dr. Zimmerman in providing clinical 

speech-language, and, at the time, Dr. Zimmerman was the only faculty member 

in the department whose position was contingent upon generating her own 

funding. 

15. Dr. Zimmerman became concerned that University employees were obtaining 

unauthorized access to identifiable highly sensitive health and education data and 

that data was not secure.  Dr. Zimmerman was also concerned about her own 

personal liability based on grant contracts that she had signed personally. Dr. 

Zimmerman was also concerned that if she did not report her concerns, McMahon 

would blame her for any and all future problems. Dr. Zimmerman made enormous 

efforts to try and resolve these issues directly with McMahon and others through 

appropriate channels at the University, UDOH, and USOE. 

16. In June of 2012, Bakian chose to move one spatial analysis study that Dr. 

Zimmerman hired and funded Bakian to complete to McMahon’s IRBs without 

consultation or disclosure to Dr. Zimmerman.  McMahon was now duplicating 

and taking Dr. Zimmerman’s research ideas and previous work and data she had 

collected related to her CDC grant awards, Utah State Office of Education 

(“USOE”) grants and other research activities. Dr. Zimmerman did not want to be 

in a position of competing with the Chairman over research projects or other 
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faculty, so she removed Bakian from her IRB’s and told McMahon that she was 

voluntarily relinquishing any co-authorship on the spatial manuscript that she 

previously hired and paid Bakian to prepare.  Dr. Zimmerman removed herself 

from McMahon’s IRB as she no longer wished to be involved if McMahon was 

“taking over” years of her prior work.  Dr. Zimmerman also believed that Bakian 

breached their data security and non-disclosure agreements by taking this project 

to a different group of researchers, including use of identifiable health and 

education data. In addition, Dr. Zimmerman did not feel comfortable with the 

accuracy of Bakian’s analysis or skills. 

17. Dr. Zimmerman was unaware whether Bakian or McMahon notified the UDOH 

that Bakian was taking research that she was paid under Dr. Zimmerman’s 

University IRB to do and was taking it from under Dr. Zimmerman to McMahon. 

[Subsequently, the UDOH IRB initiated contact with Dr. Zimmerman and she 

informed them of the authorship change by Bakian.  McMahon had not applied to 

the USOE or UDOH, IRB and URADD oversight committees to use this 

identifiable data. 

18. By August 2012, Dr. Zimmerman had no idea about the chain of custody of the 

research data she had collected for her grants, yet her name was on the contractual 

agreements promising confidentiality.  Dr. Zimmerman knew the State IT 

Department had informed employees they could be held personally responsible 

for costs related to data breaches if negligence was involved. Dr. Zimmerman had 

signed contracts with the State IT Department and did not know whether or not 

the data was shared. 
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19. As stated above, URADD was the name of Dr. Zimmerman’s 2002 grant award 

from the CDC that she authored while working at UDOH prior to her employment 

at the University.  McMahon did little or no grant related work, yet demanded 

authorship, used his authority as Chairman to remove Dr. Zimmerman’s name 

from the UDOH contract that Dr. Zimmerman had established, undermined the 

authority of Dr. Zimmerman’s PI status on her grant awards (including telling 

faculty they did not need to follow their signed CDC security guidelines and 

health department protocols for data access), dictated who Dr. Zimmerman could 

and could not use as grant personnel, and made grant budgetary decisions that are 

customarily the PI’s decision. 

20. Dr. Parks, Vice President of Research, suggested to Dr. Zimmerman in 2011 that 

this is not the usual and customary practice at the University, and suggested that it 

may be Dr. Zimmerman’s ethnical obligation to report it.  At that time, Dr. 

Zimmerman indicated that she wanted to do everything possible to work out these 

issues amicably with McMahon. Parks also stated that McMahon was positively 

viewed by upper University Administration. Dr. Parks indicated it would be 

possible for Dr. Zimmerman to move her grant to another University Department. 

21. Dr. Zimmerman was repeatedly warned by UDOH officials that she did not have 

the authority to share data she collected under the health rule, unless she received 

written approval from the UDOH oversight committee and UDOH IRB.  Drs. 

Bilder, McMahon, and Bakian all signed non-disclosure forms with Dr. 

Zimmerman and were fully aware of her agreements regarding data security and 

privacy.  Nevertheless, they all made it very clear to Dr. Zimmerman that they did 
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not want to follow those agreements.  Dr. Zimmerman attempted to meet with 

McMahon to discuss these concerns, but McMahon failed and refused to meet 

with Dr. Zimmerman. 

22. Receiving no redress, Dr. Zimmerman filed a privacy complaint with the 

University’s Privacy Office in August of 2012.  In approximately December 2012, 

Dr. Zimmerman filed a complaint with the head of Research and Compliance, Dr. 

Jeffrey Botkin, regarding her ethical concerns about McMahon. Dr. Zimmerman 

is unaware whether McMahon was ever investigated by the University for these 

ethical concerns.  Allegedly, the University’s investigation of Dr. Zimmerman’s 

privacy concerns submitted in August 2012 was completed in May 2013.  

Interestingly, no such report of this investigation was ever provided to Dr. 

Zimmerman. 

23. Indeed, in June 2013 (after the alleged investigation was supposedly completed), 

Dr. Zimmerman received an email from Stephanie A. Argoitia (“Ms. Argoitia”), 

Deputy Privacy Officer with the University’s Privacy office requesting additional 

information.  In response, counsel for Dr. Zimmerman, Lisa R. Petersen (“Ms. 

Petersen”) responded to Ms. Argoitia’s requests on June 12, 2013. As set forth in 

Ms. Petersen’s June 12 letter, on October 2, 2012, Jerry Smith (“Mr. Smith”) had 

submitted his brief findings regarding Dr. Zimmerman’s complaints in a short 

Memo to Chris Kidd, whereby Mr. Smith indicated that his investigation 

consisted only of speaking with Dr. Zimmerman and Dr. McMahon and that that 

investigation was completed in October of 2012. 
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24. Mr. Smith stated that it was explained to him (presumably by Dr. McMahon) that 

both Drs. Zimmerman and McMahon “have agreements with the UDOH and the 

University regarding the data, as well as the agreements that existed between the 

UDOH and USOE on data use.”  Following Mr. Smith’s extremely limited 

investigation, he summarily concluded “In my opinion, these agreements allow 

both Dr. McMahon and Dr. Zimmerman legitimate access to the data.” Id. Mr. 

Smith does not reference by date, title, or otherwise any specific agreements 

which he reviewed or upon which he relied in reaching this opinion. 

25. Following Mr. Smith’s brief inquiry regarding the privacy issues in October of 

2012, Dr. Zimmerman’s legal counsel, Lisa R. Petersen, immediately contacted 

University counsel to address the privacy concerns and the blatantly insufficient 

nature of Mr. Smith’s so-called investigation. She spoke to Phyllis Vetter, 

Associate General Counsel for the University (“Ms. Vetter”) and informed her of 

the absolute lack of due diligence and investigation conducted by Mr. Smith.  Ms. 

Vetter agreed that an investigation of such privacy concerns certainly should not 

consist solely of simple discussions with Drs. Zimmerman and McMahon, that 

such an investigation would be insufficient, and that she would review the 

investigation conducted. 

26. Subsequently, Dr. Zimmerman and Ms. Petersen met with Phyllis Vetter, 

Associate General Counsel for the University (“Ms. Vetter”), along with Dr. Dean 

Li (“Dr. Li”), Vice Dean for Research at the University of Utah Medicine and 

Chief Officer University of Utah Health Care on October 4, 2012, to discuss a 

resolution to Dr. Zimmerman’s concerns.  Dr. Zimmerman and Ms. Petersen were 
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assured that they would receive some kind of proposal from the University, which 

would likely involve Dr. Zimmerman’s move to another Department, away from 

McMahon.  Following the meeting, Ms. Vetter emailed Ms. Petersen on 

November 1, 2012, setting forth various inquiries made by Dr. Li. Ms. Petersen 

responded to these inquires by letter to Ms. Vetter dated November 8, 2012.  No 

response to Ms. Petersen’s letter of November 8 was received, and on November 

15, 2012, Ms. Petersen emailed Ms. Vetter regarding the status of the 

investigation.  Again, no response was received. 

27. On December 4, 2012, Ms. Petersen sent a follow-up email to Ms. Vetter 

requesting that she advise her as soon as possible regarding the status of her 

office’s investigation. Ms. Vetter responded on December 4, 2012, that she was 

meeting with Dr. Li the following Monday and requested additional information 

regarding Dr. Zimmerman’s HIPAA and FERPA concerns.  Ms. Petersen 

responded to these inquiries in a letter dated December 7, 2012. 

28. Copies of all relevant documentation were resubmitted to Ms. Argoitia with Ms. 

Petersen’s June 12 letter, including Dr. Zimmerman’s formal grievance. 

29. On December 20, 2012, Ms. Vetter acknowledged receipt of Dr. Zimmerman’s 

formal grievance and indicated that it would be forwarded.  Yet again, Ms. 

Petersen and Dr. Zimmerman heard nothing.  Dr. Zimmerman had a meeting 

scheduled with McMahon on December 20, 2012, which McMahon failed to 

attend. 

30. On January 4, 2013, Dr. Zimmerman’s access to necessary grant files was 

removed while she was on vacation, along with all her CDC grant staff’s access to 
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files.  Dr. Zimmerman emailed Bilder on January 7, 2013, requesting that her 

personal grant and research files be returned.  Dr. Zimmerman’s request was 

denied, stating that files transferred to Dr. Zimmerman from these drives must be 

“free of URADD data.” URADD was Dr. Zimmerman’s original CDC grant.  

These files included Dr. Zimmerman’s work product that she generated prior to 

her employment at the University.  When Dr. Zimmerman asked that her research 

files for which she had University and UDOH IRB and USOE approval be 

returned to her, this request was denied. As a result of these actions, McMahon 

halted correction of major data errors made by other faculty that impacted grant 

and multiple manuscript, public health surveillance, and research activities in 

progress under Dr. Zimmerman’s direction. 

31. Following this notification, Dr. Zimmerman immediately contacted the University 

Human Resources Department and was referred to the University Academic 

Affairs Office for assistance. Subsequently, Dr. Zimmerman met with Amy 

Wildermuth, Associate Vice President for Faculty. Wildermuth indicated she 

would assist Dr. Zimmerman with an appeal and transfer of her CDC grant to 

another University Department, but Wildermuth provided no follow-up assistance. 

32. McMahon had signed a confidentiality and security agreement, so he was fully 

aware and knew the policies and procedures required of Dr. Zimmerman for 

security and data sharing. 

33. Bilder was retroactively required to purge education data from the URADD data 

which she took from Dr. Zimmerman on January 4, 2013 and February 27, 2013.  

For years, Dr. Zimmerman had University IT and someone from the privacy 
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office assist her with grant security measures.  The assistant financial director, 

Burbidge, was unaware of grant security requirements and that they were 

extremely more stringent than the requirements for the University’s IT 

department. 

34. Ms. Petersen sent another request for a status update to Ms. Vetter on January 17, 

2013, and nothing was received until six months later on June 3, 2013, when Dr. 

Zimmerman received an email from Ms. Argoitia requesting information to aid in 

the investigation.  As noted above, Ms. Argoitia’s email requesting additional 

information to “aid” in the investigation suggests that the investigation was on-

going at that time and was not completed in May 2013. 

35. In the meantime, Dr. Zimmerman and McMahon had scheduled a meeting for 

January 21, 2013.  McMahon cancelled this meeting with Dr. Zimmerman.  In 

February, Dr. Zimmerman requested to meet with McMahon and Dr. Dean Li. She 

never received a response to this request. 

36. On February 26, 2013, McMahon falsely claimed in written correspondence to Dr. 

Zimmerman that she would “not meet with him nor speak to him.”  On February 

26, 2013, McMahon removed Dr. Zimmerman as the Principle Investigator on a 

CDC grant which she was the primary author and lead investigator that she had 

received through a highly competitive process.  On this same date, McMahon had 

the University Police present to lock Dr. Zimmerman out of her office and the 

department research area, and removed her access to any of her remaining grant 

and research files. 
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37. McMahon, in written correspondence said that Dr. Zimmerman would “no longer 

have any role in this grant nor receive funds from the CDC grant.” He also 

instructed “University of Utah IT personnel to disable access to grant related 

information.”  It was reported to Dr. Zimmerman by several grant staff that had 

been under her supervision that on this same date Dr. McMahon in a meeting with 

grant staff and police present he told grant staff “not to talk to Dr. Zimmerman.” 

38. Dr. Zimmerman’s desk and laptop computers were confiscated by McMahon on 

February 26, 2013 and no comparable computers or software replacement were 

given.   She was not given access to mail, and was prevented by McMahon’s 

actions to complete multiple manuscripts that had a major detrimental impact on 

Dr. Zimmerman’s career and continued collaboration with her peers. 

39. Nevertheless, Dr. Zimmerman continued to attempt to resolve issues with the 

Department and McMahon and on March 20, 2013, she responded to McMahon’s 

letters.  As stated in Dr. Zimmerman’s letter, she scheduled numerous meetings 

with McMahon, all of which he either cancelled, or simply failed to attend.  Dr. 

Zimmerman continued to explain her concerns to McMahon and to provide the 

information requested of her by the Department. Dr. Zimmerman believed she had 

complied with the Dept. and McMahon’s request for information and as stated by 

Dr. Zimmerman:  “It is not clear to me what other information I could provide to 

you.” 

40. Dr. Zimmerman was prevented from attending the national CDC grant related 

meeting on May 14, 2013 that was held to discuss data that she had collected as 

the PI over the past ten years. On May 18, 2013, McMahon indicated his intent to 
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give a research manuscript that Dr. Zimmerman was the lead author and 

Zimmerman had conducted as part of her CDC grant activities to other faculty if 

she did not finish it before June 30, 2013, yet it was McMahon who took away the 

necessary data, tools, and staff for Dr. Zimmerman to complete the manuscripts 

and told her she could not work on it. 

41. Dr. Zimmerman was terminated from the University effective June 30, 2013. 

42. All of these actions took place after Dr. Zimmerman raised her concerns about 

privacy and the fact that protected data was being compromised and accessed 

without proper authority. This action was in retaliation against Dr. Zimmerman by 

McMahon and the University for raising these concerns of privacy and 

information security violations. 

43. Thereafter, on July 22, 2013, the University prepared a summary of its 

investigation (the “Summary”) in response to Dr. Zimmerman’s complaint of 

discrimination filed with the Office of Equal Opportunity and Affirmation Action 

(“OEO/AA”). The OEO/AA found no cause to support Dr. Zimmerman’s claim of 

discrimination based on her age, sex, religion, or disability status.  The OEO/AA 

also found no cause to support Dr. Zimmerman’s claim for retaliation. 

44. On August 5, 2013, Dr. Zimmerman filed a written response to the OEO/AA’s 

Summary and requested a formal hearing appealing the matter. 

45. On December 2, 2013, the OEO/AA responded to Dr. Zimmerman’s August 5, 

2013 response and request for hearing, and found no cause to support that Dr. 

Zimmerman was subjected to discrimination on the basis of age, gender, religion, 

or perceived disability. 
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46. The OEO/AA further stated that pursuant to policy 5-210, Dr. Zimmerman’s 

August 5, 2013 response to the Initial Report and request for hearing would be 

submitted to the hearing/appeals process and a Hearing Committee would review 

the report to make a determination whether a hearing should be held. 

47. On October 25, 2013, Dr. Zimmerman filed a Notice of Claim to the University, 

through the Office of the Utah Attorney General, Risk and Insurance Management 

Office, and Office of General Counsel via hand-delivery, and certified mail, return 

receipt requested.  A true and correct copy of that Notice of Claim is attached as 

Ex. C. 

48. To date, Dr. Zimmerman has received no response to her Notice of Claim. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the Utah Protection of Public  

Employees Act – against the University of Utah) 

 

49. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

50. The Utah Protection of Public Employees Act (“Act”), Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-1 

et seq., protects employees who communicate violations of a state or federal law, 

rule, or regulation.  Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-3(1)(a), states that: 

An employer may not take adverse action against an employee because 

the employee, or a person authorized to act on behalf of the employee, 

communicates in good faith, . . . a violation or suspected violation of a 

law, rule, or regulation adopted under the law of this state, a political 

subdivision of this state, or any recognized entity of the United States. 

 

51. The Act, Utah Code Ann. § 67-21-3 (2), also protects employees who give 

information in an inquiry or administrative review: 

An employer may not take adverse action against an employee because 

an employee participates or gives information in an investigation, 

hearing, court proceeding, legislative or other inquiry, or other form of 

administrative review held by the public body. 
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52. As more specifically set forth above, Dr. Zimmerman had grave concerns about 

the privacy issues and unauthorized access to secure data at the University.  She 

was also extremely concerned about her own personal liability based on the grant 

contracts she signed. 

53. Dr. Zimmerman made enormous efforts to resolve these issues directly with 

McMahon and others, including general counsel’s office and University 

Administration, through the appropriate channels at the University and UDOH. 

54. Dr. Zimmerman had no idea about the chain of custody of the research data she 

had collected for her grants, yet it is Dr. Zimmerman who signed the contractual 

agreements promising confidentiality and was ultimately the person responsible. 

55. Dr. Zimmerman had signed contracts with the State IT Department and she did 

not know whether or not the data was shared. 

56. Dr. Zimmerman was repeatedly warned by the UDOH officials that she did not 

have the authority to share health data she collected under the health rule, unless 

she received written approval from the UDOH oversight committee and UDOH 

IRB.  UDOH also signed non-disclosure agreements with USOE for URADD data 

collected as part of Dr. Zimmerman’s CDC grant award. 

57. Drs. Bilder, McMahon and Bakin all signed non-disclosure forms with Dr. 

Zimmerman and were fully aware of her agreements regarding data security and 

privacy. Nevertheless, they all made clear to Dr. Zimmerman that they did not 

want to follow those agreements. 

58. Dr. Zimmerman attempted to meet with McMahon to discuss these concerns, but 

McMahon failed and refused to meet with Dr. Zimmerman. 
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59. Alleged performance concerns arose, as indicated by McMahon, only after Dr. 

Zimmerman’s report of serious ethical concerns, potential research misconduct, 

and discrimination to the University’s Administration.  She was subsequently 

terminated. 

60. The University’s actions constitute a violation of the Act and Dr. Zimmerman has 

been injured as result of Defendants’ actions. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Breach of Contract – against the University of Utah) 

 

61. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

62. The University’s policies constitute a contract that was binding upon Dr. 

Zimmerman and Defendant University. 

63. Dr. Zimmerman performed all of her legal obligations under these contracts. 

64. University Policy 6-316 gives its faculty members (including auxiliary faculty) 

“the right to academic freedom and the right to examine and communicate ideas 

by any lawful means even should such activities generate hostility and pressures 

against the faculty members or the university.”  Defendant University breached 

this policy by terminating Dr. Zimmerman for exercising these rights. 

65. The University policies also afforded Dr. Zimmerman due process rights. 

Pursuant to University Policy 6-316, faculty “has a right to due process . . . in any 

disciplinary matter involving the possibility of substantial sanctions.  This 

includes a right to be heard, a right to decision and review by impartial persons or 

bodies, and a right to adequate notice.”  Under University Policy 6-303, a faculty 

member has a right to appeal an unfavorable final recommendation with respect to 

retention.  Defendant University breached these policies. 
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66. University Policies 6-302 and 6-310 require that the reappointment of auxiliary 

faculty be voted on by the department’s appointments advisory committee and 

auxiliary faculty, and department chairs may not vote on the committee.  

Defendant University breached these policies when McMahon made the unilateral 

decision to terminate Dr. Zimmerman and did not require a vote by the 

department’s faculty appointments advisory committee or the department’s 

auxiliary faculty. 

67. Dr. Zimmerman suffered damages arising out of and caused by Defendant’s 

breach of their contract. 

68. As such, Defendant University is liable to Dr. Zimmerman for all damages that 

flow from Defendant University’s breaches and that are recoverable pursuant to 

Utah law, including but not limited to lost wages, the value of lost benefits, 

compensatory damages, injunctive relief,  and consequential damages, including 

attorneys’ fees and costs. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Property Interest Without Due Process  

in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – against the University of Utah and Dr. McMahon, 

in his individual and official capacities) 

 

69. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

70. Dr. Zimmerman had property interest in her employment and a reasonable 

expectation that her employment would continue. 

71. Similarly, the University’s policies also afford Dr. Zimmerman due process rights. 

Under those policies, faculty “has a right to due process . . . in any disciplinary 

matter involving the possibility of substantial sanctions. This includes a right to 
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be heard, a right to decision and review by impartial persons or bodies, and a right 

to adequate notice.”  Policy 6-316, Section 2.B., 2.D. 

72. The reappointment of auxiliary faculty must be voted on by the department’s 

appointments advisory committee and auxiliary faculty, and department chairs 

may not vote on the committee. Policy 6-302, Section 3.B, 3.C; see also Policy 6-

310, Section 4.B. A faculty member has a right to appeal an unfavorable final 

recommendation with respect to retention. Policy 6-303, Section 3.I. 

73. Because McMahon terminated Dr. Zimmerman without a vote by the 

department’s appointments advisory committee and auxiliary faculty, Defendant 

University’s termination violated Dr. Zimmerman’s right to procedural due 

process of law under the United States Constitution.  

74. Defendant University’s conduct violated Dr. Zimmerman’s Fourteenth 

Amendment rights by depriving her of a property interest without due process. 

75. As a result of the University’s actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and will 

continue to suffer non-economic losses. Dr. Zimmerman is entitled to injunctive 

relief, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, et seq., including but not limited to: back pay 

and lost benefits, front pay, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Property Interest Without Due Process  

in Violation of the Utah Constitution – against the University of Utah) 

 

76. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

77. Dr. Zimmerman had property interest in her employment and a reasonable 

expectation that her employment would continue. 
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78. Similarly, the University’s policies also affords Dr. Zimmerman due process 

rights. Under those policies, faculty “has a right to due process . . . in any 

disciplinary matter involving the possibility of substantial sanctions. This includes 

a right to be heard, a right to decision and review by impartial persons or bodies, 

and a right to adequate notice.”  Policy 6-316, Section 2.B., 2.D. see also Policy 

6-310, Section 4.B.  A faculty member has a right to appeal an unfavorable final 

recommendation with respect to retention.  Policy 6-303, Section 3.I. 

79. Defendant University’s termination violated Dr. Zimmerman’s right to procedural 

due process of law under the Utah Constitution. 

80. Defendant University’s conduct violated Article I, Section 7, of the Utah 

Constitution by depriving Dr. Zimmerman of a property interest without due 

process. 

81. As a result of the University’s actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and will 

continue to suffer both economic and non-economic losses. Dr. Zimmerman is 

entitled to recover all damages that are recoverable pursuant to Utah law, 

including but not limited to lost wages, the value of lost benefits, future pecuniary 

losses, emotional distress, damage to her reputation, other compensatory 

damages, injunctive relief including the return of the HIPAA and FERPA data, the 

return of her CDC grant and access to all materials in connection therewith, staff 

correction of data errors, and consequential damages, including attorneys’ fees 

and costs. 

Case 2:13-cv-01131-JNP-BCW   Document 32   Filed 01/22/15   Page 21 of 32



 22 

82. Defendant University acted maliciously and/or in reckless disregard of Dr. 

Zimmerman’s constitutionally protected rights, and she is therefore also entitled 

to punitive damages. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Liberty Interest in Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – against 

the University of Utah and Dr. McMahon, in his individual and official capacities) 

 

83. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

84. Dr. Zimmerman had property interest in her employment and a reasonable 

expectation that her employment would continue. 

85. Dr. Zimmerman also had a liberty interest in her good name and reputation as it 

affected her property interest. 

86. Defendant University infringed upon this liberty interest by impugning the good 

name, reputation, honor, and integrity of Dr. Zimmerman by terminating her 

employment based on false allegations of unsatisfactory job performance and 

failure to meet the University’s criteria.   

87. Defendant McMahon infringed upon this liberty interest by impugning the good 

name, reputation, honor, and integrity of Dr. Zimmerman by terminating her 

employment based on false allegations of unsatisfactory job performance and 

failure to meet the University’s criteria. 

88. Defendants’ allegations of Dr. Zimmerman’s unsatisfactory job performance and 

failure to meet the University’s criteria are part of Dr. Zimmerman’s personnel 

file, whereby these false allegations impose a stigma on her professional 

reputation. 
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89. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Dr. Zimmerman’s professional 

reputation has been adversely impacted insofar as it has foreclosed other 

employment opportunities. 

90. As a further result of the Defendants’ actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and 

will continue to suffer non-economic losses.  Dr. Zimmerman is entitled to 

injunctive relief, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, et seq., including but not limited 

to: back pay and lost benefits, front pay, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Liberty Interest in Violation of the Utah Constitution – 

against the University of Utah) 

 

91. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

92. Dr. Zimmerman had property interest in her employment and a reasonable 

expectation that her employment would continue. 

93. Dr. Zimmerman also had a liberty interest in her good name and reputation as it 

affected her property interest. 

94. Defendant University infringed upon this liberty interest by impugning the good 

name, reputation, honor, and integrity of Dr. Zimmerman by terminating her 

employment based on false allegations of unsatisfactory job performance and 

failure to meet the University’s criteria. 

95. Defendant’s allegations of Dr. Zimmerman’s unsatisfactory job performance and 

failure to meet the University’s criteria are part of Dr. Zimmerman’s personnel 

file, whereby these false allegations impose a stigma on her professional 

reputation. 
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96. As a result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct, Dr. Zimmerman’s professional 

reputation has been adversely impacted insofar as it has foreclosed other 

employment opportunities. 

97. As a further result of the University’s actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and 

will continue to suffer both economic and non-economic losses.  Dr. Zimmerman 

is entitled to recover all damages that are recoverable pursuant to Utah law, 

including but not limited to lost wages, the value of lost benefits, future pecuniary 

losses, emotional distress, damage to her reputation, other compensatory 

damages, injunctive relief, and consequential damages, including attorneys’ fees 

and costs. 

98. Defendant University acted maliciously and/or in reckless disregard of Dr. 

Zimmerman’s constitutionally protected rights, and she is therefore also entitled to 

punitive damages. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s First Amendment Rights in  

Violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 – against the University of Utah and  

Dr. McMahon, in his individual and official capacities) 

 

99. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

100.Dr. Zimmerman engaged in activity protected by the First Amendment, because 

she engaged in speech that addressed a matter of public concern.  Specifically, Dr. 

Zimmerman spoke out and identified her concerns about the privacy issues and 

unauthorized access to secure data at the University. 

101.Dr. Zimmerman’s interest in this speech outweighs the University’s countervailing 

interest as an employer in promoting workplace efficiency and avoiding workplace 

disruption. 
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102.As demonstrated above, the protected speech was a substantial or motivating 

factor in the University’s decision to not renew Dr. Zimmerman’s appointment. 

103.Dr. Zimmerman’s protected speech was a substantial or motivating factor in 

McMahon’s decision to retaliate against Dr. Zimmerman. 

104.As a result of the University’s actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and will 

continue to suffer non-economic losses. Dr. Zimmerman is entitled to injunctive 

relief, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, et seq., including but not limited to: back pay 

and lost benefits, front pay, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Deprivation of Plaintiff’s Right to Free Speech  

in Violation of the Utah Constitution – against the University of Utah) 
105.Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

106.Dr. Zimmerman engaged in activity protected by the Article I, Section 15, of the 

Utah Constitution, because she engaged in speech that addressed a matter of public 

concern. Specifically, Dr. Zimmerman spoke out and identified her concerns about 

the privacy issues and unauthorized access to secure data at the University. 

107.Dr. Zimmerman’s interest in this speech outweighs the University’s countervailing 

interest as an employer in promoting workplace efficiency and avoiding workplace 

disruption. 

108.As demonstrated above, the protected speech was a substantial or motivating 

factor in the University’s decision to not renew Dr. Zimmerman’s appointment. 

109.As a further result of the University’s actions, Dr. Zimmerman has suffered and 

will continue to suffer both economic and non-economic losses.  Dr. Zimmerman 

is entitled to recover all damages that are recoverable pursuant to Utah law, 

including but not limited to lost wages, the value of lost benefits, future pecuniary 
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losses, emotional distress, damage to her reputation, other compensatory damages, 

injunctive relief and consequential damages, including attorneys’ fees and costs. 

110.Defendant University acted maliciously and/or in reckless disregard of Dr. 

Zimmerman’s constitutionally protected rights, and she is therefore also entitled to 

punitive damages. 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the ADA – against the University of Utah) 

 

111.Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

112.The ADA prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability with regard to hiring, 

advancement, discharge, and other terms, conditions, and privileges of 

employment. 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a).  

113.The University of Utah is an “employer” as defined under the ADA. 42 U.S.C. § 

12111. 

114.Dr. Zimmerman is an individual with a “disability” as defined under the ADA 

because the University of Utah regarded Dr. Zimmerman as having a disability. 42 

U.S.C. § 12102. 

115.Specifically, Dr. McMahon regarded Dr. Zimmerman as having one or more 

mental disorders, such as emotional or mental illness(es).  

116.Dr. McMahon continually accused Dr. Zimmerman of having a mental disorder. 

Dr. McMahon told Dr. Zimmerman he thought she had post-traumatic stress 

disorder (“PTSD”) as a result of working at the DOH and after he told her about 

his own daughter’s personal traumatic event. 

117.Dr. McMahon also told Dr. Zimmerman that Dr. Bilder regarded Dr. Zimmerman 

as having a mental disorder. 
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118.Dr. Bilder offered “counseling” to one of Dr. Zimmerman’s employees to 

“protect” this employee from Dr. Zimmerman. 

119.Dr. McMahon forced Dr. Zimmerman to complete job coaching, even though she 

was a stellar employee.  

120.Dr. Zimmerman’s Performance, Retention, and Tenure Review notes ask whether 

Dr. Zimmerman can be taught, or if her “personality trait” is a hindrance. 

121. Dr. Zimmerman filed a Charge of Discrimination with the E.E.O.C. on June 6, 

2013, alleging, among other things, discrimination based on disability. See Ex. A. 

Dr. Zimmerman received a Notice of Right to Sue on November 24, 2014. See Ex. 

B. 

122.The University of Utah’s conduct violated the ADA and as a result of such 

violation, Dr. Zimmerman is entitled to recover damages in an amount to be 

established at trial, including her lost wages, benefits, and front pay in lieu of 

reinstatement. 

123.The University of Utah’s actions were willful and intentional and as such, Dr. 

Zimmerman is entitled to punitive damages in an amount to be determined at trial. 

124.Dr. Zimmerman is also entitled to recover her reasonable attorney’s fees and costs 

incurred herein. 

TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the ADEA – against the University of Utah) 

 

125.Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

126.The ADEA prohibits discrimination against employees who are at least 40 years 

old. 29 U.S.C. §§ 622, 623. 
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127.The University of Utah is an “employer” as defined under the ADEA. 29 U.S.C. § 

630.  

128.Dr. Zimmerman is a person 40 years of age or older. 

129.Dr. Zimmerman was an excellent University of Utah employee, with numerous 

positive performance reviews and letters of recommendation and support. 

130.Dr. Zimmerman was offered part-time employment while younger, similarly-

situated employees were offered full-time employment. 

131.Dr. Zimmerman was often asked when she was going to retire because older 

employees could not keep up with younger employees. 

132.Dr. Zimmerman’s Performance, Retention, and Tenure Review notes that because 

she was “older” the University’s Review Committee assumed she would know 

more. 

133.The University of Utah terminated Dr. Zimmerman when she was 60 years old; 

Dr. Zimmerman was planning on working until at least age 67, when she was 

eligible for full Social Security. 

134.The University of Utah violated the ADEA by discriminating against Dr. 

Zimmerman because of her age.  

135. Dr. Zimmerman filed a Charge of Discrimination with the E.E.O.C. on June 6, 

2013, alleging, among other things, discrimination based on age. See Ex. A. Dr. 

Zimmerman received a Notice of Right to Sue on November 24, 2014. See Ex. B. 

136. The University of Utah’s conduct violates the ADEA, and as a result of such 

violation, Dr. Zimmerman is entitled to recover her damages in an amount to be 
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established at trial, including her lost wages, benefits, and front pay in lieu of 

reinstatement. 

137. The University of Utah’s actions were willful and as such, Dr. Zimmerman is 

entitled to liquidated damages equal to the amount of her back pay award. 

138. Dr. Zimmerman is also entitled to recover her reasonable attorney’s fees and 

costs incurred herein, and interest on the amount of judgment from the date of 

loss to the date of satisfaction of the judgment. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Discrimination on the Basis of Religion in Violation of Title VII – against the 

University of Utah) 

 

139.Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

140. During her employment with the University of Utah, Dr. Zimmerman was 

discriminated against on the basis of her religion in that her opportunities within 

the Department and the University were limited by her supervisors’ views of Dr. 

Zimmerman’s religion. 

141. Dr. Zimmerman also faced derogatory and negative comments regarding her 

personal pursuit to become a chaplain. She was often told that she should be 

doing something else with her time.  

142. Dr. Zimmerman’s Performance, Retention, and Tenure Review notes that Dr. 

Zimmerman pursued becoming a chaplain, on her own time, instead of a research 

epidemiologist. Dr. Zimmerman’s chaplain work was unrelated to any job 

performance duties within the Department. 

143. Dr. Zimmerman filed a Charge of Discrimination with the E.E.O.C. on June 6, 

2013, alleging, among other things, discrimination based on religion. See Ex. A. 
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Dr. Zimmerman received a Notice of Right to Sue on November 24, 2014. See Ex. 

B. 

144. The discriminatory conduct by the University of Utah caused Dr. Zimmerman 

significant damages that she is entitled to recover, including but not limited to her 

lost wages, benefits, and front pay in lieu of reinstatement.  

145. Dr. Zimmerman has also suffered emotional distress, pain, and suffering due to 

the University’s intentional conduct; therefore, she is entitled to compensatory 

damages in an amount to be proven at trial.  

146. The University of Utah acted with malice or reckless disregard of Dr. 

Zimmerman’s rights; therefore, the University is liable for punitive damages. 

147. Dr. Zimmerman is also entitled to recover her attorneys’ fees and other costs of 

this action. 

TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Wrongful Termination in Violation of Public Policy –  

against the University of Utah) 

 

148. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs set forth above. 

149. Utah case law makes it clear that a discharged employee has a wrongful 

termination cause of action in violation of public policy if the employee’s 

termination violates a clear and substantial public policy. 

150. One of the categories that invokes a clear and substantial public policy is 

terminating an employee for reporting illegal activity. 

151. Dr. Zimmerman’s conduct, in exercising her legal right by reporting the 

University’s illegal activity to public authorities, implicates this clear and 

substantial public policy. 
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152. The University of Utah knew that Dr. Zimmerman reported the University’s 

illegal conduct, the disclosure of confidential and secure research data, to public 

authorities. 

153. The University of Utah terminated Dr. Zimmerman after her report(s) of illegal 

activity; thus, Dr. Zimmerman’s termination violated a clear and substantial public 

policy. 

154. The University of Utah is liable to Dr. Zimmerman for all damages that flow 

from her termination and are recoverable pursuant to Utah’s common law, 

including but not limited to lost wages, lost future wages, the value of lost 

benefits, compensatory damages, and consequential damages, including attorneys’ 

fees. 

155. Further, because the University of Utah acted with malice or with reckless 

indifference to the legal rights of Dr. Zimmerman, the University of Utah should 

also be required to pay punitive damages, in an amount to be determined by the 

jury. 

REQUEST FOR A JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff requests that this matter be tried before a jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for the following relief: 

1. For the payment of back wages and benefits; 

2. For compensatory damages; 

3. For consequential damages; 
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4. For injunctive relief including, but not limited to, the return of the HIPAA and 

FERPA data, the return of her CDC grant and access to all materials in connection 

therewith, and staff correction of data errors; 

5. For punitive damages in an amount to be determined by the jury; 

6. For assessment of civil fines against the Defendant as provided for under the Act; 

7. For all of costs of litigation and attorneys’ fees;  

8. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest lawful rate; and 

9. For such other further and additional relief the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

 Dated this ____ day of December, 2014. 

  

     

 

     HOLLINGSWORTH LAW OFFICE, LLC 

 

     /s/ April L. Hollingsworth________ 

     April L. Hollingsworth 

     Counsel for Plaintiff 
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